## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92-34156

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

NOV 17 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY\_\_\_\_

JOSE JIMENEZ

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LOUIS CASUSO, ESQ. 111 N.E. 1st Street Suite 603 Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 374-1500

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Appellant Jose Jimenez was indicted by the Dade County grand jury for the crimes of first degree murder and burglary. A jury trial on the indictment began before the Honorable Leslie Rothenberg in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, on October 3, 1994. (TR. 515)

At trial the testimony established that Jose Jimenez lived in the same apartment complex and was a neighbor of the victim Mrs. Phyllis Minas for about a year. (TR. 628)

All neighbors were friendly, knew each other and got along with one another. (TR. 660-661)

On October 2, 1992 some of the neighbors, Mrs. Virginia Taranco and Mrs. Lecrecia Ponce, heard a noise in Mrs. Minas' apartment. (R. 616-624)

When they proceeded to the victim's apartment to investigate the noise, the neighbors opened the door which was unlocked and heard someone on the inside pushing the door closed and locking it. (R. 620-622)

Thereafter another witness, Mr. Merriwether, saw appellant jump from a second story apartment onto the ground and disappear into the building. (R. 709-705)

After police were called they found Mrs. Minas barely conscious and stabbed near her kitchen floor. (R. 684-685)

A forensic examination of the scene found the Defendant's fingerprints on the inside part of the front door to Mrs. Minas' apartment. (R. 670)

Before the police arrived the Defendant was seen using a telephone from one of the neighbors so that he could call a cab and leave the apartment house. (R. 658-662)

Later on while the police were looking for the Defendant, who had come under suspicion by the police as a burglar, (TR. 494) the Defendant called his probation officer and stated to her that the police wanted him for stabbing somebody. (R. 773-777)

During trial the jury was instructed on both premeditated as well as felony murder. (R. 934-935)

The basis for the felony murder instruction was the state's theory that the Defendant Jimenez had burglarized Mrs. Minas' apartment and in the process of such a burglary killed her. (R. 885-886)

There was absolutely no evidence produced by the State that the Defendant had made an unauthorized entry into Mrs. Minas' apartment.

Appellant Jimenez and Ms. Minas were neighbors in the same apartment complex. Mrs. Minas resided in the complex for about ten (10) years. Appellant resided in the complex for about one (1) year.

All neighbors knew each other, were friendly and got along. There were no problems with Appellant. (TR. 660-662)

On the day of the murder Appellant was allowed inside one of his neighbor's apartment to use the phone.

A neighbor, Mrs. Ponce testified that she had permitted Appellant in her apartment in the past to use the phone. It was a close knit community. (TR. 641, 660-661)

There was no physical evidence of a forced entry. No property was taken from the apartment. (R. 518-520) The door to Mrs. Minas' apartment was unlocked.

The State was traveling on the theory which has since been receded from by this court in <u>Delgado v. State</u>, SC 88638 \_\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. Aug. 24, 2000) that because there was a crime committed in the apartment, that is the killing of Mrs. Minas, Jimenez's entry into Mrs. Minas' apartment, even if consensual, became a burglary at some point.

This theory or line of cases was specifically receded from by this Court in <u>Delgado v. State</u>, SC 88638 \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. Aug. 24, 2000).

Jimenez was convicted by the jury of both first degree murder and burglary.

During the closing argument the prosecutor argued that even if the State had not proved premeditated murder Jimenez was nonetheless guilty of first degree murder due to the felony murder component of the homicide instruction. (R. 884-886)

Appellant was convicted on a general verdict of first degree murder, sentenced to death and appealed to this Court.

This Court affirmed Appellant's conviction in <u>Jimenez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 703 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1997) and thereafter decided <u>Delgado v.</u> <u>State</u>, SC 88635 \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. Aug. 24, 2000) which receded from the court's opinion affirming Appellant's conviction and sentence of death.

Based on Delgado Appellant thereafter filed his motion under

F.R.Cr.P. 3.850 to set aside his conviction and sentence in this case. (PC R 38, 39)

One of the grounds cited by Appellant was that as a result of the <u>Delgado</u> decision the trial court, under the facts of this case, in which there were no signs of a forced or involuntary entry, or property taken, in which Appellant and victim where neighbors in the same apartment complex for at least a year, and where there was no evidence to establish that the entry into Mrs. Minas' apartment was anything other than consensual, the court should have vacated the conviction and sentence on count II, the burglary count and should have entered an order for a new trial on count I, the murder count since the State argued felony murder to obtain it's conviction to the detriment of Mr. Jimenez, Appellant herein.

The reason we argue that the felony murder rule was to the detriment of Appellant is that felony murder does not logically permit a lesser included verdict of perhaps murder in the second degree or manslaughter.

Felony murder does not allow for a heat of passion type argument which was very viable in this case which would have subjected the Defendant to a second degree murder conviction which did not carry the death penalty.

Appellant raised his argument pursuant to this court's <u>Delgado</u> opinion in his Rule 3.850 motion to vacate judgement and sentence.

The trial court without argument denied it.

Appellant submits that under the <u>Delgado</u> decision this court must vacate the burglary conviction and must grant a new trial or

at least a new penalty phase hearing on the first degree murder count.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it failed to vacate Appellant's conviction on the burglary count following this court's opinion in <u>Delgado v. State</u>, SC 88638 \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. Aug. 24, 2000)

The trial court erred in failing to set aside Appellant's conviction for first degree murder and death sentence where the State relied on and argued the felony murder doctrine in order to obtain Appellant's conviction for first degree murder and sentence of death.

The trial court erred when it failed to set aside Appellant's death sentence where one of the aggavators argued to the jury and cited by the court in it's sentencing order was the burglary count.

### ARGUMENT

Under <u>Delgado v. State</u>, SC 88638 \_\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. Aug. 24, 2000) the trial court should have set aside Appellant's convictions on count I and count II, that is first degree murder and burglary where the state could not establish that Appellant burglarized the victim's apartment and therefore could not lawfully argue felony murder to the jury. The state could not prove felony murder to the jury based on the facts in the case.

Consequently the trial court under <u>Delgado</u> should have granted Appellant's motion to set aside the judgement of conviction on count II, the burglary count, and ordered a new trial on count I, the conviction on the first degree murder count.

Appellant Jose Jimenez argues to this Honorable Court that under this court's <u>Delgado</u> opinion he is entitled to an order vacating his conviction on count II, of the indictment, the burglary count.

He is also entitled to a new trial on his first degree murder conviction since the State argued felony murder to the jury in order to secure his conviction and sentence of death on that count.

The facts reveal that Jose Jimenez and Phylis Minas were neighbors for at least one year. They lived in the same apartment complex.

It was a close knit community. The neighbors knew and saw each other. They were permitted in each other apartments. (TR 660-662)

There was no evidence of forced entry or any signs of a break in into Mrs. Minas' apartment at the time that Mrs. Minas was

found. There was no evidence that anything was taken. There was cash as well as jewelry found in the apartment. The evidence shows that neighbors heard a commotion or a noise in Mrs. Minas' apartment and proceeded to investigate.

It is important to note that while the trial court in it's order denying Rule 3.850 relief stated that the lights were off at 8:00 P.M. in the Minas' apartment this is so only after the attack on Mrs. Minas was over, not before. (TR 632-634) (PC R 109)

At the time the door was unlocked and when one of the neighbors proceeded to investigate, the neighbor, Mrs. Ponce tried to open the front door and the door was pushed closed from the inside and then locked.

Appellant's fingerprints were found on the inside part of the front door in the Minas' apartment.

Appellant was then seen jumping from a balcony to the first floor by a groundskeeper at the apartment complex. Thereafter Appellant was seen coming down from his third floor apartment and asking one of the neighbors for the telephone so that he could call a cab and leave the premises.

When the case was tried the state proceeded under both the premeditation as well as felony murder component of the first degree murder statute. The indictment alleged premeditation as well as felony murder.

The state also argued burglary relying on the line of cases that made even a consensual entry revoked if a crime is committed within the premises.

The case of <u>Delgado v. State</u> decided by this court changed all that.

In it's <u>Delgado</u> opinion this court specifically receded from it's previous holding in Appellant's direct appeal to this court.

Appellant suggests that under this court's <u>Delgado</u> decision, and taking into consideration that this court specifically stated in <u>Delgado</u> that it was receding from it's decision in <u>State v</u>. <u>Jimenez</u> 703 So.2d 437 Fla. (1997), Appellant's own case on direct appeal, that the trial court should have granted Appellant's Rule 3.850 motion and vacated the conviction and sentence on count II, the burglary count and ordered a new trial on count I, the first degree murder count since the State pled both premeditated murder as well as felony murder in Appellant's indictment (R. 1-3).

Moreover the prosecutor argued both premeditation as well as felony murder to the jury in closing argument in order to secure a conviction and death sentence on the first degree murder count. (TR. 884-887, 928-931)

There was no evidence of forced entry into the victim's apartment, both victim and Appellant were neighbors, there was no evidence shown by the State, other than the fact that Mrs. Minas was stabbed, that the original entry into her apartment was unauthorized.

Indeed the front door was unlocked and was opened by one of the neighbors prompting Jimenez to close it thereby leaving his fingerprints on the inside of it.

That being stated, especially after this court's decision in <u>Delgado</u> and after Appellant raised the argument in his Rule 3.850

petition for relief, it is more than apparent that the trial court should not have let the conviction and death sentence stand where the State relied on the burglary to obtain it's conviction for first degree murder and sentence of death.

And the prosecutor did just that. There was no proof of what provoked the attack on Mrs. Minas.

The prosecutor argued that the Defendant, apparently in a quest for money to buy drugs broke into Mrs. Minas' apartment and stabbed her to death. (R. 930)

There was absolutely no proof of this. It was a theory which fit well given the Defendant's past for burglary as well as his drug addiction. A slam dunk of a penalty phase guaranteed to obtain a death sentence. And that it did, twelve to zero. A unanimous death recommendation by the jury.

The stabbing of Mrs. Minas could have been a heat of passion type situation such as second degree murder that did not involve premeditation but rather involved an act eminently dangerous to another and evincing a depraved mind regardless of human life.

What made this case a first degree murder was the state's reliance on the burglary, the felony murder, which was ably argued by the assistant state attorney who tried the case.

Indeed the record shows that at least twice on closing argument the State relied on felony murder to prove up it's first degree murder case. The burglary which the <u>Delgado</u> case reversed.

Appellant Jose Jimenez raised the <u>Delgado</u> argument in his F.R.Cr.P. 3.850 motion to set aside conviction and sentence. The trial court denied the motion without argument.

Appellant submits that under the <u>Delgado</u> decision he was entitled to set aside the conviction on count II and was entitled to a new trial on the first degree murder count, solely based on premeditation and not felony murder.

Undersigned is aware that while eight stab wounds to vital organs may prove premeditation and this court has so stated, the fact is that in this case premeditation and felony murder were both argued by the State and are inextricably intertwined in the conviction. The fact remains that the burglary is cited by the trial court in it's sentencing order and was argued to the jury by the State as one of the aggravators in this case.

The Defendant's argument for a new trial is simple. Felony murder does not allow for a heat of passion argument as a lesser included, the death either occurred during the felony or it did not.

This case lent itself under it's facts to a second degree type argument where the victim and the Defendant were neighbors, they lived in the same complex and the front door to the apartment was unlocked showing that the victim let Mr. Jimenez in.

While it is true that the Defendant did not testify during his trial and did not state that Mrs. Minas had allowed him into her apartment, we nevertheless argue that consent was proven circumstantially taking all the facts and considerations attendant to the case including but not limited to the fact that both victim and Defendant were neighbors for at least a year, the door was unlocked, it was a close knit community, they all knew each other,

others had allowed Mr. Jimenez into their apartment and there was no evidence by the State to negate consent. Moreover the State argued to the jury during the guilt phase that even if the entry was consensual the attack on the victim revoked the consent, (TR 930). The very issue which this court addressed in <u>Delgado</u> and decided against the State's position.

The argument could be made that the victim and the Defendant were friends and something occurred during the time that the Defendant was in the victim's apartment that the victim was killed.

This is a crime that lends itself to a lesser included or a non death recommendation by the jury.

What does not is, a burglar breaking into Mrs. Minas' apartment without any authorization whatsoever and killing her in his quest to obtain drugs such as was argued during the penalty phase.

The former argument lends itself to a second degree murder or manslaughter conviction or even a non death recommendation on a first degree murder conviction, while the latter could only lead a reasonable jury not only to convict on first degree murder but to return a recommendation of death, which is exactly what happened here. Appellant had a prior for burglary which was made known to the jury at the penalty phase.

It is also important to note that one of the aggravators which was argued by the State and cited by the court in it's sentencing order imposing a death sentence was the burglary conviction. For that reason alone this court should grant 3.850 relief and order a new trial. Under this court's August 24, 2000 <u>Delgado</u> decision on the burglary issue, citing <u>Yates v. United States</u>, 354 U.S. 298 (1957); <u>Griffin v. United States</u>, 502 U.S. 46 (1991); and <u>San Martin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 717 So.2d 462 (Fla. 1998), Appellant Jimenez's conviction resting on a legally inadequate basis this court must set aside the judgement of conviction and sentence on count II, the burglary count and order a new trial on count I, the first degree murder count.

### CONCLUSION

Based upon the decision of this court in <u>Delgado v. State</u> SC 88638 \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. Aug. 24, 2000) the trial court should have granted the Defendant's motion for relief under F.R.Cr.P. 3.850 and should have set aside the conviction on count II the burglary count and should have granted the Defendant a new trial on count I the first degree murder count.

In the alternative the trial court should have granted a new penalty phase hearing since at least one of the aggravators was based on the erroneous assumption that the Defendant burglarized Mrs. Minas' apartment.

WHEREFORE Appellant Jose Jimenez would respectfully ask this Honorable Court to vacate the conviction on the burglary count and to reverse the conviction for first degree murder and sentence of death.

Respectful/1 submitted, COUIS CASUSO, ESQ.

Miami, Florida 33132 Tel.(305) 374-1500