IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1436

JOSE JIMENEZ,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

INTRODUCTION

This brief is written in 12 point Courier New Font. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the Court below. The symbols "R." and "T." will refer to the record and transcripts from the direct appeal in this matter, respectively. The symbol "PC-R." will refer to the record of the Rule 3.851 proceeding.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 21, 1992, Defendant was charged by indictment in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Court, Case No. 92-34156, with the first degree murder of Phyllis Minas and the armed burglary with an assault on Ms. Minas. (R. 1-3) The crimes were alleged to have been committed on October 2, 1992. The murder was charged alternatively as felony or premeditated murder.

Trial commenced on October 3, 1994. (R. 516) The jury found Defendant guilty of first degree murder and armed burglary with an assault. (R. 449-50) The trial court adjudicated Defendant in accordance with the verdict. (R. 451-52)

On November 10, 1994, a sentencing hearing was held before the same jury. (R. 512) The jury unanimously recommended that Defendant be sentenced to death. (R. 487) On December 14, 1994, the trial court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Defendant to death for the murder. (R. 529-44) The trial court also imposed a consecutive life sentence for the burglary. (R. 544)

Defendant appealed his conviction and sentence to this Court.

The following issues were raised, verbatim:

DEFENDANT ENTITLED TO NEW TRIAL WHERE HE REQUESTED DISCHARGE OF HIS COURT-APPOINTED COUNSEL PRIOR TO TRIAL AND COURT CONDUCTED INSUFFICIENT HEARING THEREON

II.

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL DUE TO HIS ABSENCE FROM, AND LACK OF PARTICIPATION IN, SIDEBAR CONFERENCES DURING THE VOIR DIRE PROCEEDINGS WHERE CAUSE CHALLENGES OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS WERE MADE BY THE ATTORNEYS AND RULED UPON BY THE TRIAL COURT

III.

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BY THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPERMISSIBLE RESTRICTION OF HIS RIGHT TO CROSS-EXAMINATION

IV.

DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO OBTAIN A PERSONAL WAIVER BY DEFENDANT AS TO LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE INSTRUCTION

V.

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND BURGLARY

VI.

DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO RESENTENCING BASED UPON THE PROSECUTOR'S IMPROPER PENALTY PHASE ARGUMENTS

VII.

THE TRIAL COURT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH SHOULD BE VACATED SINCE DEATH WAS A DISPROPORTIONATE SENTENCE IN THIS CASE

VIII.

THE TRIAL COURT'S SENTENCING ORDER HAS ERRORS THAT, BOTH INDIVIDUALLY AND CUMULATIVELY, REQUIRE REVERSAL OF DEFENDANT'S DEATH SENTENCE AND A REMAND FOR RESENTENCING BY THE TRIAL COURT

IX.

CAPITAL PUNISHMENT AS PRESENTLY ADMINISTERED VIOLATES THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

On October 30, 1997, the Court affirmed Defendant's convictions and sentences. On December 29, 1997, rehearing was

denied. *Jimenez v. State*, 703 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1997). In affirming Defendant's convictions and sentences, the Court outlined the facts of the case as follows:

On October 2, 1992, Jimenez beat and stabbed to death sixty-three-year-old Phyllis Minas in her home. During the attack her neighbors heard her cry, "Oh God! Oh my God!" and tried to enter her apartment through the unlocked front door. Jimenez slammed the door shut, locked the locks on the door, and fled the apartment by exiting onto the bedroom balcony, crossing over to a neighbor's balcony and then dropping to the ground. workers arrived several minutes after Jimenez inflicted the wounds, and Minas was still After changing his clothes alive. himself cleaning up, Jimenez spoke neighbors in the hallway and asked one of them if he could use her telephone to call a cab.

Jimenez's fingerprint matched the one lifted from the interior surface of the front door to Minas's apartment, and the police arrested him three days later at his parents' home in Miami Beach.

* * *

Jimenez's fingerprints were found on the inside of the front door. This is consistent with the neighbors' testimony that the door was pushed shut when they tried to get in to help Minas. Further, while the neighbors were blocking the front door, Jimenez was seen jumping from the rear balcony next to Minas's, and the sliding glass doors leading to her balcony were open. Finally, Jimenez told Rochelle Baron that the police wanted to talk to him about a stabbing when the police never mentioned a stabbing. They told Jimenez they wanted to talk to him about some burglaries.

Id. at 438, 441. Defendant then sought certiorari review in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on May 18, 1998.

Jimenez v. Florida, 523 U.S. 1123 (1998).

On January 31, 2000, Defendant filed his initial motion for post conviction relief, alleging six claims:

CLAIM NO. 1

THE DEFENDANT, JOSE JIMENEZ, WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF HIS SIXTH, EIGHT AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION BY THE FAILURE OF HIS TRIAL COUNSEL TO CALL WITNESSES ON HIS BEHALF.

CLAIM NO. 2

THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE SENTENCING PHASE OF HIS TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS, BY COUNSEL'S FAILING TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE MITIGATING EVIDENCE; INCLUDING INVESTIGATING WHETHER THERE WAS AVAILABLE EVIDENCE TO ARGUE THE APPLICABILITY OF MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATING EVIDENCE, FAMILY RELATED, AND OTHER TYPES OF MITIGATING EVIDENCE.

CLAIM NO. 3

TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN THAT THEY FAILED TO OBJECT TRIAL AND PRESERVE ISSUES ON APPEAL. THIS CONSTITUTES INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

CLAIM NO. 4

DEFENDANT'S TRIAL WAS FRAUGHT WITH PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS, AND THE OUTCOME THEREOF WAS MATERIALLY UNRELIABLE BECAUSE THERE WAS NOT AN ADEQUATE AMOUNT OF ADVERSARIAL TESTING DUE TO THE CUMULATIVE EFFECTS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

CLAIM NO. 5

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE WHERE DEFENDANT AND HIS LAWYER MR. KASSIER HAD A CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE AT THE PENALTY PHASE WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY DEFICIENT.

CLAIM NO. 6

DEATH BY ELECTROCUTION IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT AN[sic] VIOLATIVE OF THE

DEFENDANT'S RIGHTS UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

(PC-R. 29-37) On March 10, 2000, Defendant filed his Amended 3.850 Motion, claiming that he was entitled to relief under *Delgado v. State*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S79 (Fla. Feb. 3, 2000), *revised*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S631 (Fla. Aug. 24, 2000), *clarified*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1144 (Fla. Dec. 14, 2000).

On June 8, 2000, the lower court denied Defendant's motions for post conviction relief. (PC-R. 91-112) The lower court found that the alleged ineffectiveness regarding the witness was refuted by the record. (PC-R. 96-100) It also held that the alleged penalty phase ineffectiveness was insufficiently plead and refuted by the record. (PC-R. 100-105) As to claims 3 and 4, the lower court found that they were insufficiently pled. (PC-R. 105-06) The lower court stated that claim 5 had been raised on direct appeal and was procedurally barred. (PC-R. 106-07) The electrocution claim was found to be moot. (PC-R. 108) With regard to the Delgado claim, the lower court held, inter alia, that Delgado was inapplicable to this matter as it was not retroactive and no consent defense, or evidence of consensual entry, was presented at trial. (T. 108-10)

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court properly determined that Defendant was not entitled to relief based on the change in law in *Delgado*. No consent defense was raised at trial. Further, *Delgado* does not apply retroactively because it is not constitutional in nature and is not of fundamental significance.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HE IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED ON DELGADO, WHERE NO CONSENT DEFENSE WAS RAISED AT TRIAL AND THIS MATTER WAS FINAL BEFORE DELGADO WAS ISSUE.

Defendant contends that he is entitled to a new trial because of this Court's decision in *Delgado v. State*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1144 (Fla. Dec. 14, 2000). However, *Delgado* is inapplicable to this case as no consent defense was raised at trial and *Delgado* does not apply retroactively.

Defendant asserts that the State did not prove that his entry into Ms. Minas' apartment was unauthorized. However, in *Delgado*, this Court reaffirmed the principle that consent was an affirmative defense to a charge of burglary. *Id.* at S1145. This Court held, "the burden is on the defendant to establish that there was consent." *Id.* As such, the issue is not whether the State proved the entry was unauthorized but whether Defendant presented a consent defense at trial. As Defendant did not do so, the lower court properly denied this claim.

At trial, the State presented this case based on a nonconsensual entry; not a consensual entry and withdrawn consent. In opening statement at trial, the State asserted that Ms. Minas was in bed when Defendant entered her apartment without her permission and that she was killed when she confronted him inside

the home. (T. 484, 487) Defendant asserted a misidentification defense. (T. 488-93) Crime Scene Technician Ronald Pearce testified that the only light on in the apartment when he entered it was the kitchen light. (T. 537) He found no signs of forced entry. (T. 552)

Virginia Taranco, Ms. Minas' neighbor, testified that at the time she heard the banging in Ms. Minas' apartment and Ms. Minas calling "Oh my God. Oh my God," the lights in the apartment were off. (T. 620-22, 634) When Ms. Taranco saw Ms. Minas lying in her apartment after the attack, she was wearing a nightgown. (T. 641) Ms. Taranco stated that the people in the apartment building use to get together at the pool. (T. 645)

Lecrecia Ponce, another of Ms. Minas' neighbors, confirmed that the lights were off in Ms. Minas' apartment at the time noises were heard coming from the apartment. (T. 650, 657) Ms. Ponce stated that she had once allowed Defendant to use her telephone. (T. 660) She did not consider it unusual to allow a neighbor to use one's telephone. (T. 660) She stated that almost everyone in the apartment building knew each other. (T. 660)

Officer Walter Sidd, the officer who opened the door to Ms. Minas' apartment, stated that she was wearing a nightgown when found. (T. 682-85) Defendant did not testify at trial. (T. 870) No evidence was presented that Ms. Minas ever allowed him into her apartment on any occasion.

During its initial closing argument, the State stressed that there was no evidence that Defendant had ever consensually entered Ms. Minas' apartment. (T. 880-91) Defendant argued a misidentification defense in his closing argument and explained the presence of Defendant's fingerprint on the inside of Ms. Minas' apartment door by asserting that he was in the apartment with permission days or weeks before the crime. (T. 891-910)

Despite this evidence and the lack of argument that the entry into Ms. Minas' home was consensual at trial, Defendant asserts that this Court should still find Delgado applicable because there was no evidence of a forced entry and because Ms. Minas and Defendant resided in the same apartment complex. However, evidence of a forced entry is not required and there was no showing that Ms. Minas actually knew Defendant.

With regard to the forced entry, this Court acknowledged in State v. Hicks, 421 So. 2d 510, 512 (Fla. 1982), that the legislature had eliminated the breaking requirement from the burglary statute in 1975. This Court further held that the elimination of the breaking element did not raise lack of consent to the level of an element of burglary. Id. As such, the fact that no evidence of forced entry was presented did not show that Defendant did not commit a burglary.

With regard to the alleged prior relationship between Ms.

Minas and Defendant, the evidence only showed that they resided in

the same apartment complex. No evidence was presented that they ever knew one another. In fact, Ms. Ponce, on whose testimony Defendant relied, testified that almost everyone in the complex knew almost everyone else. (T. 660) She was never even asked if Ms. Minas knew Defendant. Further, even if Ms. Minas was aware that Defendant resided in the same apartment complex, there was no evidence that she knew him well enough to permit him to enter her home, especially at night when she was in her nightgown and the lights were off. Thus, Defendant did not establish a consent defense simply because he and Ms. Minas resided in the same apartment complex.

Defendant also assails the lower court's finding that the lights were off in Ms. Minas' apartment at the time of the attack. However, both Ms. Taranco and Ms. Ponce testified that at the time they heard the attack occurring in Ms. Minas' apartment, the lights were off. (T. 620-22, 634, 650, 657) As such, the trial court's finding of fact that the lights were off was amply supported by the record and should be affirmed. See Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999)(factual findings made by a lower court in ruling on a motion for post conviction relief are entitled to a presumption of correctness). As the evidence showed that the entry into Ms. Minas' apartment was not consensual and Defendant did not raise a defense of consent at trial, the lower court properly determined that Delgado did not apply and properly denied the

motion for post conviction relief.

Even if consent had been an issue in this case, the lower court would still have properly denied the motion as Delgado does not apply retroactively to cases that were final before it. Delgado, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S1147. As this Court found, Delgado fails the second and third prongs of the standard for retroactivity established in Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). Delgado, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at S1147 n.7. This is so because the change in law in Delgado is not constitutional in nature and is not of fundamental significance. Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d at 931. Here, Defendant's conviction became final when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review on May 18, 1998, almost two years before the initial Delgado opinion was released. As such, Delgado does not apply retroactively to this case, and the lower court properly denied relief.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court's order denying Defendant post conviction relief from his convictions should be affirmed.